

Federal Aviation Administration

DOT/FAA/AM-14/12 Office of Aerospace Medicine Washington, DC 20591

EEG Correlates of Fluctuation in Cognitive Performance in an Air Traffic Control Task

Vijaya K. Krishnan^a Deepika Dasari^a Lei Ding^{a,b*}

^aSchool of Electrical and Computer Engineering
 ^bCenter for Biomedical Engineering
 University of Oklahoma
 Norman, OK 73019

November 2014

Final Report

NOTICE

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the U.S. Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The United States Government assumes no liability for the contents thereof.

This publication and all Office of Aerospace Medicine technical reports are available in full-text from the Federal Aviation Administration website.

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No.	Recipient's Catalog No.			
DOT/FAA/AM-14/12					
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date			
	miting Deufermannen im en Ain	•			
EEG Correlates of Fluctuation in Co	ignitive Performance in an Air	November 2014			
Traffic Control Task		6. Performing Organization Code			
7. Author(s)		8. Performing Organization Report No.			
Krishnan VK, ¹ Dasari D, ¹ Ding L ^{1,2}					
,,,,,, _					
9. Performing Organization Name and Address		10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS)			
^a School of Electrical and Computer	Engineering				
^b Center for Biomedical Engineering		11. Contract or Grant No.			
University of Oklahoma					
Norman, OK 73019					
12. Sponsoring Agency name and Address		13. Type of Report and Period Covered			
Office of Aerospace Medicine					
Federal Aviation Administration					
800 Independence Ave., S.W.					
1		14 Sponsoring Agonov Codo			
Washington, DC 20591		14. Sponsoring Agency Code			
15 Supplemental Notes					

Larry L. Bailey, Ph.D., Human Factors Research Division, was the COTR for this project. Work was accomplished under approved task AM-523.

16. Abstract

Performance changes that are attributed to mental fatigue in real-world tasks need reliable monitoring to prevent occupational hazards. The present study investigated the association of cognitive functional decrements over time with neurophysiological patterns indicative of mental fatigue when performing a low-fidelity simulated air traffic control task for up to two hours. Electroencephalography (EEG) and performance data, i.e., response time and routing time for navigating aircraft, were simultaneously collected during the task.

Cognitive capacities of participants were assessed using the Minicog rapid assessment battery before and after the task. Acquired EEG signals were epoched into multiple segments of 10 minutes over time, and these segmented EEG data were statistically compared with each other using non-parametric statistical analysis to identify neurophysiological patterns due to the time-on-task effect. Significant changes in EEG power spectra were localized to the midline regions from the frontal and parietal areas of the human brain. Significant changes in performance data were also observed in response time and routing time.

These observed changes in EEG power spectra and performance data suggest a consistent correlation among them in the time domain in individual sessions and participants, as well as at the group level. Both deteriorating cognitive performance and EEG, indicative of the development of mental fatigue, occurred at approximately 70 minutes into the task. Such a correlation suggests EEG signals are promising for use in developing a reliable on-line mental fatigue monitoring system.

^{17. Key Words} Mental Fatigue, EEG, Cognitive Spectral Analysis, Non-Paramet	-		tatement iment is available to th through the Interne faa.gov/go/oamtecl	t:
19. Security Classif. (of this report)		21. No. of Pages	22. Price	
Unclassified	Unclassified	1	26	

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Reproduction of completed page authorized

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research has been conducted as a part of AAM-500's research efforts with FAA/CAMI and the Human Factors Research & Engineering Division (ANG-C1). This work was supported in part by DOT FAA DTFAAC-10-P-06743. We thank the FAA for providing the C-Team simulation software.

Contents

EEG Correlates of Fluctuation in Cognitive Performance in an Air Traffic Control Task

INTRODUCTION1
METHOD
Participants2
Experimental Protocol
EEG Data Acquisition
Performance Data Analysis
EEG Data Analysis
Non-Parametric Statistical Analysis5
Mental State Analysis
Correlation Analysis
RESULTS
MRAB Results
C-Team Results
EEG Results From Spatial Analysis
Indicators of Mental State Transitions
Correlation Analysis
DISCUSSION
REFERENCES

EEG CORRELATES OF FLUCTUATION IN COGNITIVE PERFORMANCE IN AN AIR TRAFFIC CONTROL TASK

INTRODUCTION

Mental fatigue, defined as the inability of the human brain to allocate sufficient resources to perform a task at normal capacity (Smit, Eling, & Coenen, 2004), can impair a variety of cognitive functions that are vital in performing a task effectively (Bills, 1931; Lorist, Klein, Nieuwenhuis, De Jong, Mulder, & Meijman, 2000; Sanders & Hoogenboom, 1970). Hence, it is desirable to study the effects of mental fatigue and its impact on human performance and work routines. Mental fatigue that happens after hours of work, known as the time-on-task effect, can significantly impact vigilance (Mast & Heimstra, 1964; Smit et al., 2004), problem solving capability (Horne, 1988; Van der Linden, Frese, & Meijman, 2003) and situational awareness (Vidulich, Stratton, Crabtree, & Wilson, 1994), which are the basis for completing most real-world tasks successfully. Mental fatigue is of special concern for air traffic control specialists (ATCSs) due to their cognitively demanding workload and public safety factors. Air traffic control tasks require ATCSs to maintain a constant focus with high reliability and to use multitasking capabilities to process information from a variety of sources for considerably long durations (Kallus, Van Damme, & Dittmann, 1999). ATCSs stay in the forefront of air traffic flow control and communicate vital information such as the proximity of other aircraft, the impact of weather, and the status of runways. These tasks require high levels of cognitive ability and endurance to complete. Performing these tasks for long hours can potentially result in mental fatigue that could be a hindrance to task completion. Since these tasks require high reliability to keep the passengers on board safe, understanding how controllers' mental functions are affected is essential to maintaining safety.

Modern physiological measures such as electrocardiography (ECG), respiration, eye blinks, and electroencephalography (EEG) have been proven more reliable and effective in monitoring fatigue (Brookings, Wilson, & Swain, 1996; Han, Wang, L., Wang, P., & Wen, 2005) in real time rather than subjective measures. Among these physiological measures, EEG has been used more extensively in recent times due to its non-invasive nature, high reliability (Lal, Craig, Boord, Kirkup, & Nguyen, 2003; Murata, Uetake, & Takasawa, 2005), and reproducibility (Lal & Craig, 2005). EEG power spectral measures are reported to produce patterns that can be used to identify changes in alertness (Makeig & Inlow, 1993; Makeig & Jung, 1995).

Researchers have identified EEG fluctuations correlated to performance deficits (Jung, Makeig, Stensmo, & Sejnowski, 1997; Kilmesch, 1999; Kilmesh, Doppelmayr, Russegger, Pachinger, & Schwaiger, 1998; Lal and Craig, 2002, 2005; Makeig & Inlow, 1993; Makeig & Jung, 1995). Event-related potentials (ERPs), small blocks of mean EEG phase-locked to the onset of stimuli, have shown significant patterns corresponding to performance change and mental state shift (De Lugt, Loewy, & Campbell, 1996; Pfurtscheller, 1992; Pfurtscheller & Aranibar, 1977; Neuper & Pfurtscheller, 2001). Another way of identifying EEG patterns is by using time-frequency analysis. This method has shown significant increases in alpha and theta powers, timelocked to stimulus presentation (Kilmesch, 1999; Akerstedt & Gillberg, 1990; Torsvall & Akerstedt, 1987).

Most of these research studies on mental fatigue use either event-driven hour-long tasks (Huang, Jung, Delorme, & Makeig, 2008; Jap, Lal, Fischer, & Bekiaris, 2009) or considerably longduration tasks, focused on effects of monotony or workload changes from EEG data analysis. Only a very few studies have focused on determining the effects of mental fatigue and physiological markers for mental fatigue in real-world work scenarios. In our research, we approached the problem of mental fatigue by correlating the performance changes with EEG patterns that represent the development of mental fatigue over time. We conducted four experimental sessions using simulation tasks from a low-fidelity air traffic control software package, i.e., C-Team (Bailey, Broach, Thompson, & Enos, 1999), with increasing work time, ranging from one half hour to two hours, for determining the amount of change in performance and EEG patterns associated with mental fatigue over time. This provided a better means to understand the effects of fatigue over different intervals of time and their effect on brain functions.

Furthermore, it is essential to determine the relationship between cognitive performance changes and EEG patterns indicative of mental fatigue to develop a reliable method for detecting time-on-task fatigue in real time. To achieve this, we hypothesized that a prominent change in EEG spectral power can be a marker for change in mental state, as reported by other studies (Gevins et al., 1995; Wilson & Russell, 2003). Since our method provides a means for continuous evaluation, our findings can be valuable in the design of continuous fatigue monitoring models, in contrast to earlier neural network models focused on fatigue prediction based on ERPs (Murata et al., 2005).

In summary, we conducted a study to investigate continuous EEG spectral power changes that are correlated with performance change during a low-fidelity air traffic control task. To determine EEG spectral power changes, we conducted a power spectral analysis and implemented a non-parametric statistical approach on the EEG data collected from four experimental sessions (30, 60, 90, & 120 minutes). Next, we computed different performance measures such as response time, routing time, number of crashes, and number of warnings from the C-Team data. A correlation between EEG spectral power changes and performance data was then established by comparing significant changes observed in these data and their occurrences over time.

METHOD

Participants

We recruited 10 healthy male participants from the population of students at the University of Oklahoma between the ages of 22 and 30 (Mean \pm SD = 25 \pm 2.3, all right handed) having no prior experience with air traffic control. All participants took part in four recording sessions that lasted for one half-hour, one hour, an hour and a half, and two hours, which will be referred to as Session 1, Session 2, Session 3, and Session 4, respectively, totaling 40 data collection sessions. However, data from Participant 1 (Session 3) and Participant 6 (Session 3) were excluded due to high noise levels that could not be improved by pre-processing using filtering and artifact rejections. All participants took part in the study after giving informed consent according to the University of Oklahoma Institutional Review Board standards. Participants were compensated monetarily for their time.

Experimental Protocol

The Minicog Rapid Assessment Battery (MRAB) (Shephard, Kho, Chen, & Kossyln, 2006) and the C-Team low-fidelity air traffic control simulator (Bailey et al., 1999) were used to study behavioral changes associated with the time-on-task effect (or mental fatigue). Participants performed MRAB cognitive tests before and after recording sessions to identify cognitive performance changes associated with time on task. The MRAB had measures of seven cognitive tasks, including Vigilance, Filtering, Divided Attention, Mental Rotation, Working Memory, Cognitive Set Switching, and Perceptual Reaction.

Vigilance, filtering, and divided attention tasks were used to test the ability of a participant to focus on specific information in order to conduct a task efficiently. The Vigilance task assesses the ability to maintain continuous attention to specific events, the Filtering task assesses the ability to filter out unwanted information, and the Divided Attention task assesses the ability to maintain attention while processing two different types of information. Working Memory investigates the ability to retain information and respond to an event based on information from previous events. Cognitive Set Switching assesses the ability to switch among cognitive sets to process suddenly appearing stimuli in a sequence displaying the same type of information. Mental Rotation requires forming judgments about two geometrical shapes to determine whether they are mirrored images or identical images with rotation. Finally, the Perceptual Reaction Time task is used to check on quickness and accuracy as the stimulus shows up at different locations and corresponding keys must be pushed.

Performance data recorded by the C-Team task were used for the continuous evaluation of fatigue effects with time on task. The C-Team task used for the present study is shown in Figure 1(a). C-Team was run on a PC with Windows operating system, and the operational interface was displayed on a 22-inch monitor. The participants clicked on appropriate controller tabs using a pointing device (i.e., computer mouse) to control aircraft. The participants were required to activate and navigate aircraft that appeared on the display screen at the rate of three per minute. Their goal was to get aircraft to their respective airports or exit gates, as defined on each aircraft data block. The number of aircraft requiring activation was maintained at a constant rate for the entire task. The scenarios were developed in such a way that airport orientation changed every five minutes with a notification that occurred one minute prior to the change through auditory feedback. Proximity warnings were issued whenever aircraft got too close to the boundary edges, airport edges, other aircraft, and restricted areas. Failure to respond to these warnings resulted in a crash.

Figure 1(a) shows the C-Team task display screen, with the aircraft heading to the exit B along the routing path, represented



Figure 1 (a). C-Team task display screen showing the aircraft (green arrow), airports (green circles with center runway), restricted area (red circle) and the route traversed (red line) to reach the exit B. (b) Accumulated routing paths, representing the task complexity, and the trajectory used by participants for air traffic control.

by the red line. The delay encountered in activating an aircraft upon its appearance on the C-Team display screen is called response time. Routing time, the time taken for the aircraft to reach the exit B, is defined as the amount of time between the appearance of aircraft on the screen and final time to reach the target exit/airport. Figure 1(b) shows the accumulated routing paths of all aircraft from Participant 2, Session 4. These path maps show the complexity in routing introduced by the central restricted area and the changes in aircraft orientation, which are indicated by the accumulated red lines around the airport in all four directions. Upon completion of the task, the performance data were saved to a replay file for further processing during the data analysis procedures.

The experimental protocol had two phases: training and recording. During the training phase, participants were briefed on the use of the MRAB software and performed four MRAB practice sessions on different days within a week. After the MRAB practice sessions, participants underwent three training sessions of C-Team to get them acquainted with the task requirements and to develop their own strategies for controlling aircraft. In the recording phase, participants took part in four sessions, each of which was conducted on different days. Each recording session consisted of initial MRAB test, followed by the C-Team air traffic control task, with simultaneous EEG recording, and final MRAB test. Four C-Team sessions varied by 30 min (30 min, 60 min, 90 min and 120 min).

EEG Data Acquisition

EEG data were collected using a 128-channel, high-density system at a sampling frequency of 250 Hz. During recording sessions, participants were advised to minimize facial movements and eye blinks to reduce artifacts. An impedance check for the electrode cap was performed at 60-minute intervals during sessions 3 and 4 to keep the impedance lower than 50 K Ω to ensure high signal-noise-ratio (SNR) in EEG data. The impedance check lasted for 5 to 10 minutes in all participants.

Performance Data Analysis

The performance data obtained from the C-Team replay files and MRAB log files were backed up after the successful completion of each session. Response times and errors were computed for MRAB tasks that were performed before and after the C-Team task. We statistically compared response times and numbers of errors from pre-task and post-task MRAB tests. To further evaluate the individual cognitive test performance in MRAB, we established a baseline performance, averaged from the MRAB data obtained during three C-Team training sessions, which showed stable performance after the initial eight MRAB practice sessions. We then compared the performance of MRAB tasks from the recording sessions with the established baseline to study the effects of fatigue associated with time on task.

C-Team data were obtained from the replay files to compute performance measures such as response time, routing time, number of crashes, and number of warnings. The crash count was a composite of the number of mid-air collisions, not being lined up with the runway at the time of landing, colliding with boundaries of C-Team airspace, and entering a section of restricted air space. A proximity warning was issued prior to a crash. The C-Team data were segmented into 10-minute intervals, and average values of response time and routing time were computed within each interval. Parameters such as crashes and proximity warnings were also computed for the respective segments. A reference segment with the best performance within the first 50 minutes of the session was identified as the baseline segment. Two-tail *t*-tests, using a significance level of p < 0.05compared to the baseline segment, were then performed to identify the segments showing significant change in response time and routing time for Sessions 3 and 4.

EEG Data Analysis

EEG data were manually inspected for channels with higher voltage fluctuations over the course of recording and were marked as bad channels. EEG data on the marked bad channels were then interpolated from neighboring channels through the bad channel replacement tool in EGI net station 4.2 (Electrical Geodesics, Inc., Eugene, OR). The procedure was reasonable since the electrical field in the neighboring areas usually had continuous distribution due to the volume conductance effect. After bad channel replacement, a band-pass filter of 0.5 - 100 Hz was applied to the data.

The C-Team task required frequent hand movements due to the use of a computer mouse to perform control actions. This was accompanied by frequent head movements, which created artifacts in EEG data (i.e., electromyography, EMG). These artifacts usually showed temporary high-amplitude, highfrequency components, and many EMG signals had localized spatial distributions over the scalp. The artifacted EEG data were identified by visual inspection and removed using the Fieldtrip software (Oostenveld, Maris, & Schoffelen, 2011).

EEG data were then segmented into 10-minute intervals on which further analyses were carried out. To remove the artifacts introduced by the impedance check on Sessions 3 and 4 data, we performed an independent component analysis (ICA) using EEGLAB software (Delorme & Makeig, 2004) on continuous EEG data before segmentation. During this process, the EEG data were applied with an extended infomax ICA, using Runica (Makeig, Jung, Bell, & Sejnowski, 1996) from the EEGLAB toolbox.



Figure 2 (a). Identified artifact components after running ADJUST artifact rejection method in EEGLAB.

We set the number of independent components (ICs) to 64 and used the ADJUST (Mognon, Jovicich, Bruzzone, & Buiatti, 2010) plugin from EEGLAB tool to remove artifacts related to eye movements and generic discontinuities (Figure 2(a)).



Figure 2 (b). Impedance check induced artifact removal based on the visual inspection of power spectral plots. The components impacted by impedance check that were identified and removed are marked using red boxes.

Components affected by the impedance check were visually identified based on the power spectral density (PSD) of each (in the Whisker plots of data from 10-minute segments), as shown in Figure 2(b). The artifacted components are indicated by red boxes. By removing these artifact ICs, the "artifact-free" EEG data were reconstructed from the residual EEG data.

The above processed data were sectioned into 1-second epochs, and a short-time window Fast Fourier Transform (FFT) was applied with a frequency resolution of 1 Hz to obtain spectral powers of three frequency components, which were theta (4 Hz - 8 Hz), alpha (8 Hz - 12 Hz), and beta (12 Hz - 30 Hz) components (Figure 3). To determine the time frequency representations using FFT, we utilized a multi-taper approach (Percival & Walden, 1993) with fixed window size of 0.25s and 50% overlap. Segments were windowed using a Hanning window (Blackman & Tukey, 1959), and power spectra were computed and averaged over the resulting eight equal segments in 1 second.

Non-Parametric Statistical Analysis

To identify significant changes in mental state due to time on task, a non-parametric statistical method (Maris & Oostenveld, 2007) was used. This method combines the merits of statistical testing and non-parametric techniques to handle the multiple comparison problems in EEG data. In this analysis, we statisti-

cally compared the first 10-minute segment with the remaining 10-minute segments over time. The comparison study resulted in a sequence of maps that illustrated the EEG spectral power changes as a function of time. The *t*-statistic value for each comparison was computed and the threshold was set at an alpha value of 0.05. T-values from all EEG channels were grouped into clusters based on the spatial adjacency of electrodes. The cluster-level test statistic was computed as the sum of *t*-values from a cluster. Then we used the non-parametric method to find the significant clusters using a permutation procedure. The procedure involved combining data from two 10-minute segments (which are compared) into a single dataset and then randomly drawing samples from the combined dataset to form two new groups of data of the original size. This procedure is known as random partitioning. The cluster-level test statistic was then computed for these two randomized partitions in the same manner as for the original 10-minute segment data. Repeating this random partitioning an infinite number of times results in a permutation distribution in which the *p*-value is called the permutation *p*-value. Due to practical constraints, the permutation p-value was obtained using a Monte Carlo estimate, which was obtained by repeating the random partitioning a large number of times (e.g., 1,000). A permutation *p*-value was obtained that was the proportion of a random partition that had an observed cluster-level test statistic



Figure 3. Computation of EEG PSD. (a) 10-second EEG signals from one channel from recordings; (b) EEG signals in a resolution of one second used to perform the FFT calculation; (c) One-second EEG signals multiplied by a sequence of Hanning windows each of 0.25-second length and 50% overlap; (d) Resulted eight periodic tapers from the operation of Hanning. windows; (e) PSD from each taper; (f) EEG PSD obtained by averaging PSDs from eight tapers.

greater than the cluster-level test statistic from original segment data. If this *p*-value was less than the set critical alpha value (< 0.05), we concluded that the two 10-minute segments were significantly different.

The above-mentioned non-parametric statistical method was implemented in the Fieldtrip software (Maris & Oostenveld, 2007), and its graphic illustration is displayed in Figure 4. A *t*-statistic was then plotted out at each electrode indicated by three shades of colors to illustrate the change in power spectra over human heads as a function of time. A blue color represented a significant increase, while a red color indicated a significant decrease. A green color indicated no change in the power spectra compared to the first 10-minute segmented data (see Fig. 4 for examples). The significant change in EEG spectral powers, identified by the implementation of the statistical test, indicated a possible mental state transition, as discussed below.

Mental State Analysis

Mental state was determined based on the activation of the neural networks, which were responsible for the neural computation performed by the human brain. For example, mental states have been studied as microstate and transition between different microstates as an indicator of a functional status change in the human brain (Pascual-Marqui, Michel, & Lehmann, 1995). Such transitions of mental states, or microstates, are reflected in rhythmic EEG signals. In other words, EEG measures the signal produced by the synchronous discharging population of cortical neurons, which are shifted under different mental states.

To determine the change in brain activity, we selected the channels corresponding to the significant change from non-parametric analyses and searched for the change in the absolute spectral power over time in a specific frequency band (i.e., the theta, alpha, and beta bands). Specifically, the pattern in the median of EEG spectral powers from10-minute segment data along the time axis (i.e., 0.5, 1, 1.5, or 2 hours) was assessed. This indicated the mean level of activity at each frequency band. We then searched for pattern shifts in the curves for medians as indicators of the mental state transition, as studied by Pascual-Marqui et al., 1995. We hypothesized that the prominent shift in EEG spectral power data was correlated to the time-on-task effect. We



Figure 4. Illustration of cluster-based permutation test for spectral powers on channels between two 10-minute EEG data.

also evaluated these features using other types of data, such as the performance data (see the section below). The time exhibiting the significant prominent shift was noted as the transition time (TT).

Correlation Analysis

To find the association between the EEG patterns indicative of mental fatigue and cognitive performance, we compared performance measures such as response time and routing time with EEG spectral power data over time. Response time and routing time represented the change in performance, while EEG spectral power represented the change in mental state due to the time-on-task effect. We compared the results obtained from non-parametric statistical testing to identify the change in spatio-temporal patterns of EEG spectral powers and changes in C-Team performance measures over time.

RESULTS

MRAB Results

Overall results from the MRAB tasks showed stable performance with no significant changes in reaction time both before and after sessions of any length (i.e., 0.5, 1, 1.5, and 2 hours). The comparison study against baseline performance using *t*-tests showed similar performance between pre-task and post-task tests, with the exception that there were observed differences for the Vigilance and Filtering tasks. However, these differences between pre-task and post-task were not consistent among participants at the level of group analysis. Hence, no conclusive evidence of time-on-task effects was indicated by the performance data from the MRAB tasks. Meanwhile, the performance measures obtained from C-Team showed significant effects of time on task, as discussed below.

C-Team Results

C-Team performance data were used to evaluate the timeon-task effects during the task scenarios. In general, when time on task became longer, all participants had increased response times in activating aircraft and increased routing times to reach destinations. It appeared that it took about 20 to 30 minutes for participants to reach stable performance after beginning the task. This result was also suggested by the EEG data and will be discussed in the next section.



Figure 5 C. Team performance measures, reaction time, and routing time are plotted over time to show the significantly deteriorating performance happening around 60 - 80 minutes for session 2 (blue), session 3 (red), and session 4 (green) from participant 3.

Figure 5 shows the response times and routing times from sessions 2, 3, and 4 of Participant 3. During the first 60 minutes, response times and routing times followed a similar pattern for all three sessions. That is, there was an initial drop in times, followed by a gradual increase toward the 60-minute mark. Following the 60-minute mark, significant changes were observed in Sessions 3 and 4 response times and routing times. These changes were evident for all participants.

Table 1. Response time significance level between reference interval (C*) and rest of the time intervals (T#) obtained from C-Team task of all participants (P) for session 4.

			Time Intervals									
	C*	T3	T4	T5	T6	Т7	Т8	Т9	T10	T11	T12	
P1	T4	-	-	0.372	0.117	0.074	0.131	0.368	0.775	0.108	0.294	
P2	T4	-	-	0.320	0.220	<u>0.009</u>	0.089	0.385	0.150	0.699	-	
P3	T5	-	-	-	<u>0.023</u>	<u>0.000</u>	<u>0.011</u>	0.107	<u>0.000</u>	0.107	0.506	
P4	T2	0.130	<u>0.021</u>	0.486	0.119	<u>0.016</u>	0.095	0.079	0.111	0.023	0.793	
P5	T5	-	-	-	0.065	0.084	<u>0.000</u>	0.069	0.004	0.861	-	
P6	T5	-	-	-	0.161	<u>0.010</u>	0.702	<u>0.009</u>	0.298	0.154	0.286	
P7	T2	0.358	0.217	0.462	0.053	<u>0.013</u>	<u>0.025</u>	0.634	0.104	0.094	0.696	
P8	T2	0.513	0.083	0.632	0.068	0.244	<u>0.014</u>	0.261	0.160	0.155	0.502	
Р9	T4	-	-	0.770	0.291	0.291	0.160	0.536	0.210	0.613	0.003	
P10	T2	0.457	0.389	0.445	0.344	0.781	0.415	0.520	0.120	0.509	0.002	

Note: The values italicized and underlined are identified to be significantly increasing ones based on the t-test conducted with significance level of P < 0.05.

Table 2. Routing time significance level between reference interval (C*) and rest of the time intervals (T#) obtained from C-Team task of all participants (P) for session 4.

			Time Interval									
	C*	Т3	Τ4	Т5	Т6	Т7	Т8	Т9	T10	T11	T12	
P1	T4	-	-	0.795	0.183	<u>0.009</u>	0.118	0.205	0.466	0.253	0.580	
P2	T5	-	-	-	0.591	0.201	0.178	0.861	0.672	0.661	0.260	
P3	T5	-	-	-	0.153	<u>0.000</u>	0.199	0.222	<u>0.011</u>	0.512	0.549	
P4	T5	-	-	-	0.578	0.349	0.692	0.429	0.913	0.784	0.080	
P5	T5	-	-	-	0.521	0.729	0.054	0.553	0.706	0.601	0.381	
P6	T5	-	-	-	0.336	<u>0.006</u>	<u>0.044</u>	0.084	0.905	0.071	0.798	
P7	T5	-	-	-	0.591	0.178	0.135	0.980	0.817	0.323	0.315	
P8	T5	-	-	-	0.628	0.433	0.108	0.788	0.466	0.410	0.698	
P9	T4	-	-	0.600	0.310	0.450	0.136	0.792	0.610	0.904	0.377	
P10	T1	0.270	0.052	<u>0.008</u>	<u>0.013</u>	0.130	0.093	0.632	0.251	0.726	0.326	

Note: the values italicized and underlined are identified to be significantly increasing ones based on the t-test conducted with significance level of P < 0.05.

Tables 1 and 2 present the statistical results via comparing 10-minute segment data with the baseline segment data for Sessions 3 and 4, respectively. As shown by the *t*-test results, we inferred that there was a significant increase in response time and routing time that occurred approximately between 60 and 80

minutes. Following the 60-80 minute region, some participants, such as Participant 3, exhibited momentary recovery in terms of performance, followed by a significant decline in performance. It is possible that these participants noticed their performance decline and were able to temporarily return to baseline performance.

Table 3. Summa	y of C-Team task	performance measures	for all the sessions.
----------------	------------------	----------------------	-----------------------

	Mean								
	Response time	Routing time	Crashes	Warnings	Active plane/second				
Session 1	4.26	29.72	1.40	2.00	1.25				
Session 2	5.08	31.56	3.67	3.33	1.31				
Session 3	5.78	31.23	6.67	9.80	1.24				
Session 4	4.91	30.31	4.50	6.80	1.26				



Figure 6. Scalp maps plotted out from the non-parametric statistical test results showing significant changes in EEG power spectra across alpha (a), beta (b) and theta (c) over time, comparing the first 10-minute segment with subsequent segments, and resulted significance levels are color coded and displayed. Red indicates a significant decrease, blue indicates a significant increase, and green means no significant change.

Performance decrements were also observed in other measures, e.g., numbers of crashes and proximity warnings, from Session 1 (and 2) and Session 3 (and 4) (Table 3). Both the average number of crashes and proximity warnings were significantly higher in Sessions 3 and 4 than in Sessions 1 and 2, averaged over all participants. This was likely because Sessions 3 and 4 were of longer duration and, hence, participants had more opportunity to experience crashes and proximity warnings. However, it was also interesting to note that the number of crashes and proximity warnings were slightly lower in Session 4, as compared to Session 3. This may have been due to some sort of recovery effect, such as described in the previous paragraph.

EEG Results From Spatial Analysis

To spatially represent the change in power spectra over different segments, we used scalp maps and three shades of colors (Fig. 6). All changes are referenced to the first 10-minute segment. Areas marked in blue indicate a significant increase in EEG power spectra. Areas marked in red show a statistical decrease, and areas marked in green represent no statistically significant change. Notice that the blue areas follow an increasing pattern across time, and thus are thought to represent a time-on-task effect. Areas marked in red do not exhibit a consistent trend across time and, thus, are thought not to be a useful marker for a time-on-task fatigue effect. Because of this, we focus subsequent discussion only on the blue regions.

The results from the non-parametric analysis suggest significant and consistent changes over time in power spectra in theta, alpha, and beta frequency bands, as shown in Figure 6. These power spectral changes were observed by comparing the first 10-minute segment to the subsequent 10-minute segments in sequence, which were localized to frontal midline and parietal areas. Further, to illustrate the consistency of these results across sessions, we have presented the alpha power spectral plots obtained from all four sessions.



Figure 7. Scalp maps plotted out from the non-parametric statistical test results showing significant changes in EEG alpha power spectra over time on obtained from session 1 (a), session 2 (b), session 3 (c), and session 4 (d) comparing the first 10-minute segment with subsequent segments, and resulted significance levels are color coded and displayed. Red indicates a significant decrease, blue indicates a significant increase, and green means no significant change.

Figure 7 shows the scalp maps that indicated a significant change in alpha power spectra across all sessions from Participant 9. A similar pattern was also observed for theta and beta bands that are not shown here. As stated earlier, a significantly increasing pattern in alpha band was observed over time to be localized within the frontal and parietal areas along the midline for Sessions 2, 3, and 4. Session 1 showed random changes similar to those appearing at the beginning of the longer sessions, which are thought to be the result of temporary changes

in brain activity not related to the time-on-task effect. Due to this observation, the performance data from Session 1 (the 30-minute activity) was not used to evaluate the time-on-task effect. Instead, performance data from Sessions 2, 3, and 4 were used. Results from the non-parametric analysis for varied session lengths provided more information on increasing patterns of power spectra with time-on-task and identified spatial regions (along the midline from the frontal area to the parietal area over the head) associated with fatigue.



(b)

3 Power Spectrum ī 2 20i i 1 10 ļ L 1 1 _ _ Ļ + ÷ L ÷ Ŧ n, D 30 4050 $\dot{60}$ 83 93 103 20734060 10 i 1 3 10 2030 5037 87 97 107117 icipant TRH theipan 4 2 Power Spectrum i 1 1 2 I ₽ Ŧ Ļ 1 20 ¥ ÷ L 0 Ù 10 50 60 30 40 60 i 109 10 20 30 40 i 76 86 96 10G 116 507989 99 119 rticipant 8 -Prover Spectrum 206 i 4 -10 <u>+</u> 2 L t Ļ ÷ ÷ ÷ -Ť 4 -+ -0 0. n 50 60 participant 5 40 50 60 i 74 paπicipant 6 20 30 102030 40 X4 44 114 10 1114 80 90 100 110 120 Power Specrum 4 15 4 ł I ł 10 i ž 5 Т 0 _ ÷ + _ 0 2030 20 30 4050 úŰ 10610 4050 60 88 98118 10 i 76 3 36 9611678 108participant pairie pant 7 15 1 ÷ Puwer Spectrum 4 1 i 1 1 1 20 I I н I \Box 105 Ļ Ŧ Ť İ + + + Ŧ _ 0 _ 0 60i 75 95 50 100 10 2030 50105 115 10 2030 40 6090 110 120 4085 i 80participant 9 participant 10

Figure 8 (a). Scalp electrode locations selected as the representative channels used for mental state transition time computation. (b) Whisker plots of EEG alpha power spectra used to identify the transition times of mental states. The grey bars represent the time durations used for impedance check.

Indicators of Mental State Transitions

To determine mental state change, we selected representative channels from the spatial areas that are identified from the non-parametric statistical analysis and increased EEG spectral powers over the alpha band. Figure 8(a) shows the selected representative channels, indicated by red dots over the scalp map, all of which appear on the midline from frontal area to parietal area. Figure 8(b) shows the Whisker plots of absolute power data in a resolution of 10 minutes, obtained from the representative channels of all participants in Session 4. The grey bars after the 60-minute mark represent the impedance check interval, during which no EEG data were obtained. From these Whisker plots, one can infer that there was a steady increase in EEG power spectra with significant



(a)

(b)





Figure 9 (a). Results from our previous study showing the scalp electrode locations for representative channels used indicated by red dots. (b) Whisker plots of EEG alpha power spectra used to identify the transition times of mental states.

changes occurring from 60 to 80 minutes, which varied within different sessions and among participants. In general, most participants showed this increasing pattern in alpha power spectra. However, there were individual variations, such as observed with Participant 8. Despite individual difference in variation, the overall pattern of increasing EEG power spectra and spatial distribution patterns were consistent with the results from our previous study (Dasari, Crowe, Ling, Zhu, & Ding, 2010 Fig. 9), thus suggesting stable results across multiple studies.



Figure 10 (a). Increasing patterns of median EEG power spectra over time from alpha, beta, and theta bands from session 4 (a) and session 3 (b) data with significant changes occurring around 60 - 80 minutes. Black lines represent the transition time (TT) for mental states.

Figure 10 shows the median values of absolute spectral power data for every 10-minute segment from Sessions 3 and 4. We estimated the transition time (TT), defined as the indicator for mental state shift, as discussed above, using the following procedures. First, from these plots, it can be observed there was a prominent spectral power shift occurring between 50 and 90 minutes in most participants. We broadened this window to be from 40 to 100 minutes and searched for the maximal changes between neighboring segments in this range as TTs, which are marked by the vertical lines in Figure 10 for different participants. This prominent shift in EEG powers was identified and computed as TTs for all participants and sessions (summarized in Table 4). Observe that most transition times are found between 60 to 80 minutes.

Correlation Analysis

The neurophysiological pattern identified in EEG to represent the time-on-task effect (or mental fatigue) depicts a visually observed correlation with cognitive functional decrements observed in C-Team task performance. Fluctuations in performance, represented by response time and routing time, correspond with transition times identified from EEG spectral power data over time.

Table 4. Summary of the mental state transition time identified from EEG spectral power data.	

		Participant									
	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	P8	Р9	P10	
	Mental State Transition Time (minutes)										
Session 2		60		60	60				60	60	
Session 3		60	75	60	60		74	77	60	50	
Session 4	73	77	86	60	80	94	60	50	80	60	

Note: The blank fields indicate no significant change observed for those participant sessions.



Figure 11. Correlation of reaction times with spatial patterns showing significant changes in EEG alpha power spectra localized to frontal midline region of the brain, from Participant 10, session 4.

Figure 11 shows an example of the visually observed correlation between response time and the spatial maps obtained using the non-parametric method from Participant 10, Session 4. The performance decrements are well-captured by physiological patterns from EEG at both 60 and 100 minutes where the frontal midline region of the brain exhibits increased alpha EEG powers as compared to neighboring segment data (i.e., deep blue color means more changes than light blue color).



Figure 12. Correlation of alpha median power obtained from EEG power spectral analysis, with reaction time performance over time from Participant 2, Session 4.

Figure 12 shows an example from Participant 2, Session 4, in which the mean response time is shown with the median alpha EEG powers over time. The plots show that slow response times can be visually correlated to increasing patterns of EEG alpha power. The EEG alpha power pattern also follows the response time pattern when fast response times appear at the beginning of the session (due to the alertness) and later in the ninth 10-minute segment (due to the temporary recovery from mental fatigue). The improved response times at the end of session may be attributed to the expectation of finishing the task soon. A similar result is also observed in all participants and sessions. In some participants, such phenomena are also observed to be localized within the parietal region.

Distribution of transition time and time markers for performance change 7 Transition time Routing time Response time 6 5 No of Participants 4 3 2 1 0 2 3 7 4 5 8 9 10 11 12 1 6 10 minute block

Figure 13. Distributions of number of participants showing significant changes in reaction time (green bar), routing time (blue bar), and mental state transition times (red bar).

For the comparison at the group level, Figure 13 shows the histogram of the number of participants in sessions 3 and/or 4 (combined) that displayed a significant departure from baseline response times and routing times. Also included in the histogram are TTs from all participants. Each bar represents the number of participants falling under the corresponding 10-minute time window, where each red bar represents TT from EEG. Each green bar shows the significant routing time change, and each blue bar indicates a significant routing time change. Notice that the histograms for TT, response time, and routing time are mostly clustered in the time window from 50 to 90 minutes and peak between 60 to 70 minutes. Since the time markers for significant changes were mostly found after 60 minutes, data from Sessions 1 and 2 were not considered for this correlation analysis.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we analyzed the association of EEG patterns related to mental fatigue, with deteriorating cognitive performance over time while participants performed a simulated air traffic control task. The low-fidelity air traffic control task used for the present study provided a more realistic approach in assessing performance changes, as the task scenarios mimicked some of the real-world air traffic control tasks. Furthermore, the nature of observations of the time-on-task effect we made in the present study was more spontaneous and realistic, compared to the monotonous single-event tasks used in other studies (Kramer, Sirevaag, & Huges, 1988; Murata et al., 2005; Trejo & Mullane, 1995).

The realistic nature of the task gives us a better understanding of mental fatigue and its impact on cognitive performance. For instance, response time (i.e., aircraft activation time) in the C-Team task represents the level of alertness in monitoring the appearance of aircraft, while the routing time reflects the planning and decision-making activities necessary for performing air traffic control tasks. Response time and routing time obtained from task performance data in the present study show significant change attributed to the effects of time-on-task fatigue that mostly occurred around 60 to 80 minutes.

EEG spectral power studies show significant alpha and theta activity changes over time that are believed to be associated with cognitive functional changes (i.e., mental state changes). Nonparametric statistical tests implemented on EEG data show that these significant changes are localized to the midline areas from the frontal lobe to the parietal lobe of the brain. The concept of mental state transition was introduced, and the times for such transitions are used to indicate the time markers for the development of mental fatigue, or the time-on-task effect. Obtained transition times from EEG, analyzed by the processes discussed above, indicated prominent changes in EEG data indicative of mental state that occurred approximately around 70 minutes. These patterns were consistent in sessions from the same participants and also consistent from different participants. It is noted that the way to identify transition times study is through the visual inspection of general patterns among all participants,

which was not robust and optimal. More quantitative measures such as medians, changes in medians, variances, and changes in variances of EEG power spectra in a finer resolution (e.g., 5 minutes) can be further explored to develop more robust measures.

Individual and group analyses of mental transition times and performance changes produced meaningful visual correlations. Mental state transition times were well correlated with the slow response times and increased routing times. Such results suggest that patterns obtained from EEG data are reliable indicators for the development of mental fatigue and associated cognitive functional decrements. In many examples, EEG rhythmic powers in alpha bands (also in theta and beta bands) fluctuate with the performance data (Figures 11 and 12), which suggests that EEG rhythmic powers are promising, reliable indicators in real-time monitoring and can even be used to predict human performance.

During our study, we also observed the mental effort deployed by participants to momentarily improve their performance after first experiencing a reduction in performance due to the onset of mental fatigue. Examples for Participant 8 are illustrated in Figures 11 and 12, as well as in Figure 8(a). After the identified mental state transition times, the performance of participants show large fluctuations. The initial recovery in performance during these fluctuations suggests that the individual may be attempting to counteract the mental fatigue effects by increasing mental effort. However, the increase in mental effort appeared to be insufficient to maintain the desired performance level and was followed by a subsequent decline in performance. It is possible that multiple episodes of recovery from mental fatigue may be observed under more taxing conditions from those encountered in the experiment. Even though this is speculation, we are certain that future researchers can take advantage of this work and proceed forward to understand how increases in mental effort made after onset of mental fatigue would affect brain functions and subsequent behavioral performance.

One limitation that we experienced during this study was the impedance check at the 60-minute time mark. We conducted the impedance check to make sure the skin-electrode interface impedance was lower than 50 K Ω in order to maintain a high signal-noise-ratio in recordings. Due to this impedance check, 10 minutes of data were lost at the time (i.e., 60 minutes), which is around the identified moment for the critical development of mental fatigue. Furthermore, the impedance check also impacted the alertness level of participants since they were presented with a new event that was not related to the task, even while instructions had been given to participants to ignore the impedance check. To remove artifacts, a post-recording signal processing technique, i.e., ICA, was used (Makeig et al., 1996). An alternative possible solution to this issue is the use of dry electrodes for long hours of EEG recording (Justin, Jason, James, & Glenn, 2009). Furthermore, the MRAB results in the present study did not show consistent differences among pre-task and post-task cognitive tests, which suggests that MRAB was possibly not sensitive in identifying the time-on-task effect. Other possible reasons for this could have been the short nature of MRAB tasks and the variety of small tasks in MRAB that may help participants become engaged after performing long, monotonous C-Team tasks.

Finally, the present study serves as a template for conducting high-fidelity simulation experiments involving actual air traffic control participants. We demonstrated that mental state transitions related to time on task fatigue could be identified while participants performed low- fidelity aircraft separation tasks involving changes in speed, heading and altitude. The regions of the brain associated with performing these tasks are likely to be the same regions activated during actual air traffic control operations. However, the intensity and duration of mental state transitions are likely to be different. Therefore, before any generalization can be made to the air traffic control population, it will be important to replicate this study under high fidelity air traffic control simulation conditions.

REFERENCES

- Akerstedt, T., & Gillberg, M. (1990). Subjective and objective sleepiness in the active individual. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, 52(1-2), 29-37.
- Bailey, L., Broach, D., Thompson, R., & Enos, R. (1999).
 Controller teamwork evaluation and assessment methodology: A scenario calibration study; (Report no. DOT/FAA/AM-99-240. Washington, DC: Federal Aviation Administration, Office of Aviation Medicine.
- Bills, A.G. (1931). Blocking: A new principle of mental fatigue. *The American Journal of Psychology*, 43(2), 230-245.
- Blackman, R.B., & Tukey, J.W. (1959). Particular pairs of windows. The measurement of power spectra, from the point of view of communications engineering. New York: Dover.
- Brookings, J.B., Wilson, G.F., & Swain, C.R. (1996). Psychophysiological responses to change in work load during simulated air traffic control. *Biological Psychology*, 42(3), 361-377.
- Dasari D., Crowe C., Ling C., Zhu M., & Ding L. (2010). EEG pattern analysis for physiological indicators of mental fatigue in simulated air traffic control tasks. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 54(3), 205-209.
- De Lugt, D.R., Loewy, D.H., & Campbell, K.B. (1996). The effect of sleep onset on event related potentials with rapid rates of stimulus presentation. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, *98*(6), 484-492.
- Delorme, A., & Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 134(1), 9-21.
- Gevins, A., Leong, H., Du, R., Smith, M.E., Le, J., & DuRousseau, D. (1995). Towards measurement of brain function in operation environments. *Biological Psychology*, 40(1-2), 169-186.

- Han, Q., Wang, L., Wang, P., & Wen, B. (2005). Synthesis quantitative assessment of human mental fatigue with EEG and HRV. *Proceedings of SPIE 6040, ICMIT 2005: Mechatronics, MEMS and smart materials, 6040IV.*
- Horne, J.A. (1988). Sleep loss and "divergent" thinking ability. *Sleep*, *11*(6), 528-536.
- Huang, R.S., Jung, T.P., Delorme, A., & Makeig, S. (2008). Tonic and phasic electroencephalographic dynamics during continuous compensatory tracking. *NeuroImage*, 39(4), 1896-1909.
- Jap BT, Lal S, Fischer P, & Bekiaris E. (2009). Using EEG spectral components to assess algorithms for detecting fatigue. *Expert Systems with Applications*, *36*(2)-1, 2352-2359.
- Jung, T.P., Makeig, S., Stensmo, M., & Sejnowski, T.J. (1997). Estimating alertness from the EEG power spectrum. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 44(1), 60-69.
- Justin, R.E., Jason, W.M., James, C.C., & Glenn, F.W. (2009). Validation of a dry electrode system for EEG. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 53(18), 1171-1175.
- Kallus, K., Van Damme, D., & Dittmann, A. (1999). Integrated task and job analysis of air traffic controllersphase 2: Task analysis of en-route controllers. European Organization for the Society of Air Navigation, Technical Report HUM.ET1.ST01.1000-REP-04.
- Kilmesh, W. (1999). EEG alpha and theta oscillations reflect cognitive and memory performance: A review and analysis. *Brain Research Reviews*, *29*, 169-195.
- Kilmesh, W., Doppelmayr, M., Russegger, H., Pachinger, T., & Schwaiger, J. (1998). Induced alpha band power changes in the human EEG and attention. *Neuroscience Letters*, 244 (2), 73-76.
- Kramer, A.F., Sirevaag, E.J., & Huges, P.R. (1988). Effects of foveal task load on visual-spatial attention: Even-related brain potential and performance. *Psychophysiology*, 25(5), 512-531.
- Lal, S.K., Craig A., Boord, P., Kirkup, L., & Nguyen, H. (2003). Development of an algorithm for an EEG-based driver fatigue countermeasure. *Journal of Safety Research*, 34(3), 321-328.
- Lal, S.K., & Craig, A. (2002). Driver fatigue: electroencephalography and physiological assessment. *Psychophysiology, 39*(3), 313-321.

- Lal, S.K., & Craig, A. (2005). Reproducibility of the spectral component of the electroencephalography during driver fatigue. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 55(2), 137-143.
- Lorist M.M., Klein, M., Nieuwenhuis, S., De Jong, R., Mulder, G., & Meijman, T.F. (2000). Mental fatigue and task control: planning and preparation. *Psychophysiology*, 37, 614-625.
- Makeig, S., & Inlow, M. (1993). Lapses in alertness: coherence of fluctuations in performance and the EEG spectrum. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 86(1), 23-35.
- Makeig, S., & Jung, T.P. (1995). Changes in alertness are a principal component of variance in the EEG spectrum. *NeuroReport*, 7(1), 213-216.
- Makeig, S., Jung, T.P., Bell, A.J., & Sejnowski, T.J. (1996). Independent component analysis of Electroencephalographic data. Advances in neural information processing system 8, Cambridge MA: MIT press, 145-151.
- Maris, E., & Oostenveld. R. (2007). Non-parametric statistical testing of EEG and MEG-data. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 164(1), 177-190.
- Mast, T.M., & Heimstra, N.W. (1964). Effects of fatigue on vigilance performance. *Journal of Engineering Psychology*, 3(3), 73-79.
- Mognon, A., Jovicich, J., Bruzzone, L., & Buiatti, M. (2010). ADJUST: An automatic EEG artifact detector based on the joint use of spatial and temporal features. *Psychophysiology*, 48, 229-240.
- Murata, A., Uetake, A., & Takasawa, Y. (2005). Evaluation of mental fatigue using feature parameter extracted from the event related potential. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, 35(8), 761-770.
- Neuper, C., & Pfurtscheller, G. (2001). Event-related dynamics of cortical rythms: frequency-specific features and functional correlates. *International Journal of Psychophysiology, 43*(1), 41-58.
- Oostenveld, R., Fries, P., Maris, E., & Schoffelen, J.M. (2011). Fieldtrip: Open sources software for advanced analysis of MEG, EEG, and invasive electrophysiological data. *Computation Intelligence and Neuroscience* Volume 2011(2011), doi: 10.1155/2011/156869.
- Pascual-Marqui R.D., Michel C.M., & Lehmann D. (1995). Segmentation of brain electrical activity into microstates: model estimation and validation. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 42(7), 658–665.

Percival, D.B., & Walden, A.T. (1993). Spectral analysis for physical applications: multitaper and conventional univariate techniques. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge UP.

Pfurtscheller, G. (1992). Event related synchronization (ERS) an electrophysiological correlate of cortical areas at rest. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, *83*(1), 62-69.

- Pfurtscheller, G., & Aranibar, A. (1977). Event-related cortical desynchronization detected by power measurements of scalp EEG. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 42(6), 817-826.
- Sanders, A.F., & Hoogenboom, W. (1970). On effects of continuous active work on performance. *Acta Psychologica*, *33*, 414-431.
- Shephard, J.M., Kho, S., Chen, J., & Kossyln, S.M. (2006). MiniCog: A method for administering physiological tests and experiments on handheld personal digital assistant. *Behavior Research Methods*, 38(4), 648-655.
- Smit, A.S., Eling, P.A.T.M., & Coenen, A.M.L. (2004). Mental effort causes vigilance decrease due to resource depletion. *Acta Psychologica*, 115(1), 35-42.

- Torsvall, L., & Akerstedt, T. (1987). Sleepiness on the job: Continuously measured EEG changes in train drivers. Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology, 66(6), 502-511.
- Trejo, L.J., & Mullane, M.M. (1995). ERPs and visual signal detection performance: Classification functions based on wavelet decompositions. *Psychophysiology*, 32, S77.
- Van der Linden, D., Frese, M., & Meijman, T.F. (2003). Mental fatigue and the control of cognitive performance: effects on perseveration and planning. *Acta Psychologica*, 113(1), 45-65.
- Vidulich, M.A., Stratton, M., Crabtree, M., & Wilson, G. (1994). Performance-based and physiological measures of situation awareness. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine, 65*(5 Suppl.), A7-A12.
- Wilson, G.F., & Russell, C.A. (2003). Operator functional state classification using multiple physiological features in an air traffic control task. *Human Factors*, 45(3), 381-389.